7-18

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES J. LOHR, as personal)
representative of the Estate)
of JOHN ROBERT LOHR, deceased)
and SENTRY INDEMNITY COMPANY,)

Petitioners,)

vs.)

HATTIE MAE BYRD,)

Respondent.)

CASE NO.
5th DCA No: 85-297
Florida Bar No: 184170

68,836

FILED

JUN 20 1986

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Deputy Clerk

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

JAMES J. LOHR, as Personal Representative
of the Estate of JOHN ROBERT LOHR, deceased
and SENTRY INDEMNITY COMPANY

(WITH APPENDIX)

Law Offices of
RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.
Richard A. Sherman, Esquire
Rosemary B. Wilder, Esquire
Suite 102 N Justice Building
524 South Andrews Avenue

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioners/Cross-Appellants/Appellees/Defendants, James L. Lohr as representative of the Estate of John Robert Lohr, deceased and Sentry Insurance Company will be referred to collectively as Petitioner, Defendant, or Lohr.

The Respondent/Appellant/Cross-Appellee/Plaintiff, Hattie Byrd will be referred to as Respondent, Plaintiff, or Byrd.

For the sake of simplicity and ease of reading, the supplemental authority for this Brief will be footnoted and the citations appear in the appendix. The opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal appears in the appendix at 1-2.

The Record reference will be designated by the letter "R". All emphasis in the Brief is that of the Respondent.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE

This appeal is to determine a question of great public importance:

May punitive damages be awarded
against a deceased tortfeasor's estate?

The Appellant respectfully suggests that this Court answer no; thus joining the overwhelming majority of jurisdictions in the United States, which do not allow the innocent widow, orphaned children, and other heirs to be punished for wrongdoing of the decedent.

What transpired was that John Lohr, the Defendant, was intoxicated and was involved in an accident with the Plaintiff, Hattie Byrd. As a result of the accident the Plaintiff was minimally injured and the Defendant was killed. The heirs to Mr. Lohr's estate are his elderly parents (R 4, 13, 29).

The Plaintiff filed suit against the decedent's estate, which was valued at \$28,000 (R 9-10). The jury awarded compensatory damages of \$31,000 and punitive damages of \$25,000 (R 34). There was no issue as to the compensatory damages and the Defendant moved for Remittitur and for entry of Judgment in Accordance with the Motion for Directed Verdict (R 32-33). The trial court held that in view of the value of the estate's being \$28,000, the \$25,000 punitive damages were too high and entered the remittitur, reducing the punitive damages to \$9,000 (R 35-36).

The Plaintiff rejected the Remittitur (R 37) and the trial court entered an Order vacating the Final Judgment and granting a new trial on damages (R 38). The Plaintiff appealed challenging the Remittitur (R 39). The Defendant cross appealed challenging the award of punitive damages against the estate of the tortfeasor (R 44).

The cross appeal presented a question of first impression in the Fifth District, namely whether punitive damages can be assessed against an estate. In its Briefs, Lohr pointed out that the overwhelming majority of states which have considered this question have refused to allow punitive damages against an estate; thirty-seven states out of forty-two states which have considered this question do not allow this.

The reason is that the purpose of punitive damages is to punish a wrongdoer. Since the decedent is dead he can not be punished any further. In the present case the Defendant was punished with his life and no further punishment is necessary or possible.

Additionally, the Defendant asked the District Court to review who is being punished when punitive damages are assessed against an estate. In truth it is the widow and orphaned children and parents who are already suffering acutely from the tragedy who are punished by the court.

It was submitted that Florida should follow the overwhelming majority of states which have held that punitive damages are not

recoverable from an estate. After the Briefs were filed in this case, the First District Court of Appeal decided Stephens v. Rohde, 478 So.2d 862 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), which the Plaintiff relied on as supplemental authority.

The Fifth District considered the existing law in Florida and the vast body of law from other states and said that the compelling argument was that punitive damages should not be available against an estate (A 1-2). In its opinion it noted that under the restraints of Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1972), it was bound by this Court's opinion in Atlas Properties, Inc. v. Didich, 226 So.2d 684 (Fla. 1969) (which inferred that punitive damages could be assessed against an estate). Therefore, the Fifth District had to affirm the trial court's Order Denying the Directed Verdict for the Defendant on punitive damages. However, since this Court has never expressly ruled on the issue, the Appellate Court certified the question as one of great public importance (A 2). The Appellate Court also affirmed the amount of the Remittitur (A 2).

The Petitioner now submits its Brief on the merits and respectfully asserts that Florida should follow the overwhelming majority of states which have held that punitive damages are not recoverable from an estate.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal presents a question of first impression in the Florida Supreme Court, namely whether punitive damages can be assessed against an estate.

The overwhelming majority of states which have considered this question have refused to allow punitive damages against an estate; thirty-seven states out of forty-two states which have considered this question do not allow this.

The reason is that the purpose of punitive damages is to punish a wrongdoer. Since the decedent is dead he can not be punished any further. In the present case the Defendant was punished with his life and no further punishment is necessary or possible.

Additionally, this Honorable Court should review who is being punished when punitive damages are assessed against an estate. In truth, it is the widow and orphaned children and parents who are already suffering acutely from the tragedy who are punished by the court.

Therefore, it is submitted that Florida should follow the overwhelming majority of states which have held that punitive damages are not recoverable from an estate.

I. IT IS AGAINST PUBLIC POLICY TO ASSESS PUNITIVE DAMAGES AGAINST AN ESTATE; THIS POSITION IS SUPPORTED BY THE MAJORITY OF JURISDICTIONS THROUGHOUT THE UNITED STATES; AND THIS COURT SHOULD JOIN THE MAJORITY AND A VERDICT SHOULD BE DIRECTED FOR THE DEFENDANT.

The Fifth District Court correctly reasoned that allowing punitive damages against an estate served no purpose other than to punish innocent heirs: the widow, orphaned children and in this case the elderly parents of the deceased tortfeasor. While the Appellate Court agreed with the position of Defendant, that a verdict should have been directed barring punitive damages; it was bound by this Court's opinion in Hoffman v. Jones, supra, to just write an opinion setting out its reasoning, to affirm the lower court and then let this Court decide the issue. This is a case of first impression before the Supreme Court and it is respectfully submitted that this Court accept the Fifth District's reasoning and that of the vast majority of jurisdictions in the United States and bar the recovery of punitive damages against an estate.

Most of the states which have considered this problem disallow punitive damages against the estate of a dead tortfeasor. Of the four which do allow such damages, at least two -- Texas and West Virginia -- rely on public policy reasons inapplicable to Florida. In most states that have expressly considered the problem, such damages are not allowed. See, e.g., *Thorpe v. Wilson*, 58 N.C.App. 292, 293 S.E.2d 675 (1982); *Summa Corp. v. Greenspun*, 96 Nev. 247, 607 P.2d 569 (1980); *Allen v.*

Anderson, 93 Nev. 204, 563 P.2d 484 (1977); Fordon v. Nathan, 352 N.Y.S.2d 464 (N.Y.App. Div. 1974); Braun v. Moreno, 11 Ariz.App. 509, 466 P.2d 60 (1970); Mervis v. Wolverson, 211 So.2d 847 (Miss.1968); Ashcraft v. Saunders, 251 Ore. 139, 444 P.2d 924 (1968); Tietjens v. General Motors Corp., 418 S.W.2d 75 (Mo. 1967); Bancroft-Whitney Co. v. Glen, 64 Cal.2d 327, 411 P.2d 921 (1966); Hayes v. Gill, 216 Tenn. 39, 390 S.W.2d 213 (1965); Dalton v. Johnson, 240 Va. 102, 129 S.E.2d 647 (1963); Barnes v. Smith, 305 F.2d 226 (10th Cir. 1962) (applying New Mexico law); Marcante v. Hein, 51 Wyo. 389, 67 P.2d 196 (1937); Johnson v. Levy, 122 La. 118, 47 So. 422 (1908); Sheik v. Hobson, 64 Iowa 146, 19 N.W. 875 (1884). The rationale underlying these cases is that when the tortfeasor is dead, he cannot be punished and no longer needs to be deterred from future misconduct. The punishment actually is inflicted upon his heirs. Separation of the "punitive" and "exemplary" aspects of such awards is unjustified because general deterrence logically depends upon the perception of punishment suffered by the wrongdoer. When that punishment is diffused and unjustly inflicted upon the innocent, through a doctrine analogous to attainder, the deterrent effect is frustrated. It is unrealistic to suppose that such awards deter other prospective tortfeasors, especially if the criminal laws fail to do so.

Byrd v. Lohr, 11 F.L.W. 1067, 1068 (Fla. 5th DCA May 8, 1986).

Of the states which considered this question, the overwhelming majority of states have refused to allow punitive damages to be assessed against the estate of a tortfeasor, because punitive damages paid by the estate defeats their entire purpose, which is punishment and deterrence. Of these, five states have refused to allow any punitive damages, which is

consistent with the abandonment of punitive damages in England, where they originated.^{1*} Eleven statutes have enacted statutes that expressly forbid a punitive damage award against the estate of a deceased tortfeasor, among them California and New York.² Fourteen states have barred a punitive damage award against the tortfeasor's estate by case law.³ Nine states only allow a punitive damage claim to survive the death of the plaintiff.⁴ In total, thirty-seven of forty-two states to address the issue, do not permit the type of jury award given in this case. It is respectfully submitted that the trial court erred in allowing the punitive damage claim against Mr. Lohr's estate and the Motion for Entry of Judgment in accordance with Motion for Directed Verdict should have been granted.

THE DEAD HAVE BEEN PUNISHED ENOUGH

The Florida Supreme Court has not ruled on this question and therefore this is a case of first impression for this Court. It is respectfully suggested that this Honorable Court should follow the vast majority of the jurisdictions in the United States and not permit a punitive damage claim against the estate of the tortfeasor. The heirs to the estate are the only ones punished by this Judgment. The tortfeasor has already paid the ultimate price for his actions, he lost his life in the accident.

* Please see the appendix at pages A3-5 for citations footnoted in the brief.

PUNITIVE DAMAGES PAID BY ESTATE DEFEATS THE PURPOSE.

At common law all causes of action died with the actors and it appears that this was originally based on the fact that those acts now classified as torts were one time dealt with as crimes. See, W. Prosser, Handbook of the Law of Torts, 898 (4th Ed. 1971); Thompson v. Estate of Petroff, 319 N.W.2d, 400, 402 (Minn. 1982). The wrongdoer was likely to forfeit life or limb and his property was confiscated by the King. Thompson, supra 402. As early as the Thirteenth century it was recognized that punishment should not be extended beyond the offender himself and the party not at fault should not suffer punishment. By the Sixteenth century certain causes of action survived the death of the plaintiff but the courts continued to hold that if a man inflicted personal injury upon another and then died the victim had no cause of action for the tortfeasor cannot be punished when he is dead. In the Eighteenth century, English courts originated the Doctrine of Exemplary Damages as a means of justifying awards of damages exceeding the plaintiff's tangible harm.⁵ It was also recognized that the damages punished the misconduct of the defendant.⁶ As the law developed and statutes were passed allowing a cause of action to survive the death of a party, the question arose regarding the imposition of punitive damages, especially against the estate of a deceased tortfeasor.

As a general rule, punishment and the discouragement of similar offenses usually does not enter the area of tort law, with

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A.

SUITE 102N JUSTICE BUILDING, 524 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE., FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA. 33301 • TEL. (305) 525-5885

SUITE 518 BISCAYNE BUILDING, 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA. 33130 • TEL. (305) 940-7557

one exception.

In one rather anomalous respect, however, the ideas underlying the criminal law have invaded the field of torts. ...all but a few courts have permitted the jury to award in the tort action "punitive" or "exemplary" damages, or what is sometimes called "smart money". Such damages are given to the plaintiff over and above the full compensation for his injuries, for the purpose of punishing the defendant, of teaching him not to do it again, and of deterring others from following his example.

Posser, supra at 9.

However under modern tort theory the primary reason for the existence of a cause of action is to provide compensation to the plaintiff.

[T]he general purpose of the law of torts is to secure a man indemnity against certain forms of harm to person, reputation or estate, at the hands of his neighbors, not because they are wrong, but because they are harms. O.W. Holmes, *The Common Law* 115 (M. Howe ed. 1963).

Since the focus today is on compensation the need for punitive damages has been greatly criticized.

The policy of giving punitive damages has been a subject of much controversy. They have been condemned as undue compensation of the plaintiff beyond his just deserts in the form of a criminal fine which should be paid to the state, if any-one, with the amount fixed only by the caprice of the jury and imposed

without the usual safeguards thrown about criminal procedure, such as proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, the privilege against self-incrimination, and even the rule against double jeopardy-- since the defendant may still be prosecuted for the crime after he had been mulcted in the tort action.

Prosser, supra at 11.

Some states only allow punitive damages to compensate for litigation expenses that are precluded by Rules of Civil Procedure.⁷ Of course, this is easily remedied by the amendment and improvement of the Rule of Civil Procedure. Other states allowed punitive damages only to cover items previously disallowed by compensatory damages.⁸ However mental pain and suffering, hurt feelings, and wounded dignity are now included in the determination of actual damages and therefore the compensatory role of punitive damages is filled by actual damage awards.

Courts almost universally recognize that punitive damages are a windfall to the plaintiff and the only remaining viable reason for assessing punitive damages is to punish and deter. The standard applied by the courts to determine whether punitive damages can be given is that the defendant has been reckless, wanton, willful, etc. This standard serves two purposes. First, it guards against the allowance of punitive damages in cases in which there is no admonitory function and secondly, it serves to

focus attention on the person who has acted and upon the need for admonishing him.⁹

NO JURISDICTION

The quintessence of this matter is that the Florida courts do not have jurisdiction to punish the dead. Any attempt to do so is following form rather than substance. The ones punished by this unreasoned following of form are the widow and orphaned children and parents who are already suffering acutely from the tragedy, and have further punishment inflicted on them by the courts. As the Fifth District correctly observed, the assessment of punitive damages against the estate to unjustly punish the innocent heirs is a situation similar to attainder. Byrd at 1068. The United States Constitution and that of the State of Florida expressly prohibits attainder. U.S. Const. Art. I Section 9 Cl.3, Section 10; Cl.1; U.S. Const. Art. I Section 10, 17; Fla. Const. Art. I Section 10. Punishing the innocent heirs is also analogous to the feudal doctrine of corruption of blood, where the descendants are punished for the crimes of their fathers.

CASE LAW PROHIBITS ESTATE PAYING PUNITIVE DAMAGES.

Florida courts have consistently recognized that the purpose of punitive damages is to punish. The Supreme Court clearly states this purpose in Caraway v. Revell, 116 So.2d 16, 20 (Fla. 1959).

There is real affinity between the character (or kind or degree) of necessity to recover punitive damages or to sustain or warrant a conviction of manslaughter. Both have, as a basic purpose, the punishment of the offender. The offender in a manslaughter action may be deprived of his liberty or property by the State while the offender in an action for that kind of negligence justifying the imposition of punitive damages is deprived of his property-- not as compensation to the injured party but as punishment--ergo, both are punishment and partake of public wrongs, to a greater or less degree.

The dicta in Carraway was recently adopted by the Supreme Court in White Construction Co., Inc. v. Dupont, 455 So.2d 1026 (Fla. 1984). It is well established that punitive damages are an enhancement of the compensatory damages and this windfall is permitted to prevent the defendant from repeating his wrongful actions. Ellis v. Golconda Corp., 352 So.2d 122, (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). Since compensation is not a basis for punitive damages in Florida the object of punishment is not accomplished when the tortfeasor is dead.

A recent Supreme Court case in Minnesota reviewed the development of punitive damages and came to the inescapable conclusion that punitive damages are to punish the defendant and if he is dead, his estate should not suffer for his actions. Thompson v. Estate of Petroff, supra. The court was faced with the issue of assessing exemplary damages against a deceased tortfeasor under a survival statute. The plaintiff, Thompson,

was attacked by the tortfeasor Petroff and she subsequently killed him. The Supreme Court held that punitive damages against Petroff's estate were not proper and the court was not persuaded by the allegation that the punitive damages would deter others from committing the same act.

Thompson argues that if she is allowed to recover from Petroff's estate, she is also entitled to punitive damages. Although the punitive damages statute, Minn. Stat. Section 549.20 (1980), does not expressly prohibit assessing punitive damages against the estate of a deceased defendant, we conclude that such damages are not recoverable. The purpose of punitive damages is to punish the tortfeasor where the act is malicious or wilful, and to deter him from repeating the wrongful act. See, e.g., *Wilson v. City of Eagan*, 297 N.W.2d 146, 151 (Minn. 1980); *Gryc v. Dayton-Hudson Corp.*, 297 N.W.2d 727, 741 (Minn. 1980); C. McCormick *HandBook of Law of Damages* Section 77 (1935); W. Prosser, *supra*, Section 2 at 9. Obviously, if the tortfeasor is dead, no need exists for either punishment or deterrence. Thompson contends that a potential tortfeasor will be deterred from committing an intentional tort by the fear that if he dies after committing the tort, his heirs will be deprived of part of his estate as a result of the estate's liability for punitive damages. This argument is not persuasive.

We acknowledge that the decedent's act in this case was particularly brutal; nevertheless, we cannot permit punitive damages to be assessed against his estate merely because Thompson very probably could have recovered them were Petroff still alive. Petroff is dead; to punish his estate instead would be to ignore the entire purpose of punitive damages.

Thompson at 408.

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

SUITE 102N JUSTICE BUILDING, 524 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE., FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA. 33301 • TEL. (305) 525-5885
SUITE 518 BISCAYNE BUILDING, 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA. 33130 • TEL. (305) 940-7557

THE DEFENDANT CAN NOT BE PUNISHED ANY FURTHER.

The Supreme Court of Nevada, in Allen v. Anderson, 562 P.2d 487 (Nev. 1977) held that neither the estate nor the father of the alleged deceased tortfeasor driver could be liable for punitive damages. The plaintiff was a passenger in a car driven by Michael Ruark. Ruark's car collided with one driven by Frederick Anderson. Both Ruark and Anderson were driving under the influence of alcohol. In the accident Ruark was killed and Anderson injured. The plaintiff sued Anderson, the estate of Ruark and Ruark's father. The court addressed a broadly worded survival statute¹⁰ and determined that punitive damages cannot be assessed against the tortfeasor's estate.

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