IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JUL 1980

CLERK OF THE COURT  
By \_\_\_\_\_  
Deputy Clerk

JAMES J. LOHR, as personal  
representative of the Estate  
of JOHN ROBERT LOHR, deceased  
and SENTRY INDEMNITY COMPANY,

Petitioners,

vs.

Case No. 68,836

HATTIE MAE BYRD,

Respondent.

---

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE  
FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS

---

---

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

---

Roy B. Dalton, Jr.  
HURT, PARRISH & DALTON, P.A.  
1000 East Robinson Street  
Orlando, Florida 32801  
(305) 843-1920

Trial Counsel for  
Respondent

Marcia K. Lippincott  
MARCIA K. LIPPINCOTT, P.A.  
644 West Colonial Drive  
Orlando, Florida 32804  
(305) 425-0116

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A dead tortfeasor can no longer be reached by the acts of men. Punishment, as a reason for the assessment of punitive or exemplary damages<sup>1</sup>, is removed upon a tortfeasor's death. However, there remain valid reasons for the assessment of punitive damages even after the tortfeasor's death.

First, there is the Florida Survival Statute. This Court has expressly held that the Survival Statute requires the allowance of an action for punitive damages when the injured party dies. [Atlas Properties, Inc. v. Didich, 226 So. 2d 684, 688-689 (Fla. 1969)] The death of the tortfeasor can be treated no differently. What would happen if both the victim and tortfeasor die?

Secondly, deterrence of others is a valid public policy reason for the assessment of punitive damages. This reason continues regardless of the death of the tortfeasor. To hold to the contrary would ignore the plain fact that man's actions on earth involve planning for his death.

---

<sup>1</sup>In the situation at bar, the "punitive" aspect is removed since the tortfeasor is dead, and the term "exemplary" damages is the most appropriate. However, due to custom and convenience, the term "punitive" damages will be used throughout this brief.

Finally, this issue must be determined in light of Florida jurisprudence, which mandates the survival of punitive damages whether it is the victim or tortfeasor who dies.

ISSUE INVOLVED

MAY PUNITIVE DAMAGES BE AWARDED AGAINST  
A DECEASED TORTFEASOR'S ESTATE?

## ARGUMENT

### I. FLORIDA PUBLIC POLICY IS SERVED BY THE ASSESSMENT OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES AGAINST A TORTFEASOR'S ESTATE.

It would be ridiculous to contend that a dead man can be punished by the actions of men. Punishment is not the reason for the imposition of punitive damages against a dead man's estate. The sins of the father are not being visited upon the son. Rather the estate of a dead man is responsible for his earthly debts. A man, who commits an act which is so malicious that it warrants the imposition of punitive damages, incurs a debt to society, i.e. to serve as a deterrent example to others. This debt can and should be collected whether the wrongdoer is dead or alive.

#### A. Florida Public Policy Recognizes the Importance of Punitive Damages as a Method of Detering Others.

This Court has repeatedly held that the public policy which justifies the imposition of punitive damages is the punishment of the offender and the deterrence of others. [Winn & Lovett Grocery, Co. et al. v. Archer, 171 So. 214 (Fla. 1937); Fisher v. City of Miami, 172 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 1965); Ingram v.

Pettit, 240 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1976); Mercury Motors Exp., Inc. v. Smith, 393 So. 2d 545 (Fla. 1981)]

Indeed, as recently as two months ago, this Court emphasized the importance of punitive damages as a method of deterring others. [The Celotex Corporation v. Pickett, 11 F.L.W. 208 (Fla. May 8, 1986)] This Court held that a successor corporation assumes its predecessor's liabilities, including punitive damages, when the two corporations statutorily merge. In so ruling, this Court stated as follows:

"Celotex's claim that the imposition of punitive damages here contravenes the purpose of such damages is unpersuasive. Punitive damages are imposed as a punishment of the defendant and as a deterrent to others. ... allowing punitive damages in this instance may well deter other corporations from seeking to merge with other companies which have engaged in reckless conduct detrimental to the public health and thereby have the potential for the imposition of punitive damages... Were we to hold that the potential for punitive damages disappears at merger, this may well encourage reckless conduct. Our holding here recognizes that since reckless wrongdoing by the predecessor can result in liability for punitive damages against the successor, acquisition candidates are deterred from such actions. Realization that their companies will sell for less, or not at all, if they engage in reckless behavior provides an incentive for acquisition candidates to conform their behavior to socially acceptable norms."  
[11 F.L.W. at p. 209]

B. The Assessment of Punitive Damages  
Against an Estate Serves to Deter  
Others From Wrongdoing.

In its opinion in the case at bar, the Fifth District Court of Appeal stated as follows:

"Separation of the "punitive" and "exemplary" aspects of such awards is unjustified because general deterrence logically depends upon the perception of punishment suffered by the wrongdoer. When that punishment is diffused and unjustly inflicted upon the innocent, through a doctrine analogous to attainder, the deterrent effect is frustrated. It is unrealistic to suppose that such awards deter other prospective tortfeasors, especially if the criminal laws fail to do so."  
[Byrd v. Lohr, 11 F.L.W. 1067, 1068  
(Fla. 5th DCA May 8, 1986)]

This analysis is faulty for two reasons. First, the analysis presupposes that man cares only for himself and while alive does not consider life for others after his death by planning and striving for the financial security of his dependents and heirs. This supposition is blatantly incorrect. Why do we make wills, sacrifice now to save for later, and pay millions of dollars in life insurance premiums?"

The imposition of punitive damages against a tortfeasor's estate makes a potential wrongdoer aware that reckless behavior can jeopardize the financial security of his family. This knowledge provides an incentive to

conform one's behavior to socially acceptable norms.

[Stephens v. Rohde, 478 So. 2d 862 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985)]

Secondly, the analysis presupposes that those who are not deterred by criminal laws, will not be deterred by punitive damages. This supposition is incorrect because it fails to realize two facts: 1) punitive damages can be imposed for countless acts which are not covered by criminal laws; and 2) the fear of losing a part of one's net worth or estate might deter a potential wrongdoer more than a criminal fine or short jail term.

As this Court stated in Campbell v. Government Employees Insurance Co., 306 So. 2d 525, 531 (Fla. 1974):

"Punitive damages tend to bring to punishment types of certain cases of oppressive conduct, i.e. slanders, malice, cruelties, anti-social, unethical and unfair treatment, often criminally unpunishable and which in actual life go unnoticed in the criminal law."

It can be neither proven nor disproven that the assessment of punitive damages against a tortfeasor's estate will deter others. Similarly, it can be neither proven nor disproven that the assessment of punitive damages against a live tortfeasor will deter others. However, it is reasonable to conclude that some potential tortfeasors may be deterred from reckless and

malicious behavior by the knowledge that such conduct may jeopardize their personal financial security. Similarly, it is also reasonable to conclude that some potential tortfeasors may be deterred from reckless and malicious behavior by the knowledge that such conduct may jeopardize their family's financial security. Society has a vital interest in taking all reasonable steps to deter man from engaging in socially unacceptable conduct. Therefore, a valid public policy purpose is served by the assessment of punitive damages against a tortfeasor's estate.

C. Florida Public Policy Recognizes Reasons Other Than Punishment and Deterrence for the Assessment of Punitive Damages.

Petitioner makes it appear that Prosser is critical of punitive damages by selective quotation. [Petitioner's Brief at pp. 10-11] After noting the criticism directed at punitive damages, Prosser continues as follows:

"[Punitive damages] have been defended as a salutary method of discouraging evil motives, as a partial remedy for the defect in American civil procedure which denies compensation for actual expenses of litigation, such as counsel fees, and as an incentive to bring into court and redress a long array of petty cases of outrage and oppression which in practice escape the notice of prosecuting attorneys occupied with serious crime,

and which a private individual would otherwise find not worth the trouble and expense of a lawsuit. At any rate, they are an established part of our legal system, and there is no indication of any present tendency to abandon them."

[W. Prosser, W. Page Keeton, Prosser and Keeton on Torts, 12 (1984)]

In Campbell v. Government Employees Insurance Co., 306 So. 2d 525, 531 (Fla. 1974) this Court looked favorably upon punitive damages and recognized valid reasons for such damages beyond the main reasons of punishment and deterrence. Specifically, it was stated as follows:

"Punitive damages are recoverable by an aggrieved to serve the predominant function of deterrence and punishment. In nearly all states punitive damages are recognized as recoverable. They are no longer looked upon as monstrous but are awarded to vindicate wrongs arising from antisocial behavior. The incentive to bring actions for punitive damages is favored because it has been determined to be the most satisfactory way to correct evil doing in areas not covered by the criminal law. Punitive damages have helped to maintain public tranquility by permitting the wronged plaintiff to take his revenge in the courtroom and not by self-help.

Compensatory damages do not always fully compensate in grievous situations nor do they have a general salutary effect under prevailing conditions to promote fair treatment of the public. At best, litigation, even when successful is an inconvenience, often an

ordeal. Compensatory damages do not sometimes offer reparation for mental invasion. Moreover, it is difficult to translate pain and suffering, disfiguration, loss of enjoyment of life, loss of prospects, into compensatory dollars. Punitive damages tend to bring to punishment types of certain cases of oppressive conduct, i.e. slander, malice, cruelties, antisocial, unethical and unfair treatment, often criminally unpunishable and which in actual life go unnoticed in the criminal law."

D. The Assessment of Punitive Damages Against an Estate Serves to Provide the Injured Party a Chance of Full Compensation.

In the case at bar, the jury valued the Plaintiff's injuries at \$31,000.00. [R. 34] However, due to the necessary expenses of attorney's fees, the Plaintiff will not receive full compensation for her injuries. Under the circumstances, where a deceased defendant inflicts injuries in reckless disregard of others, public policy is served by permitting the assessment of punitive damages against an estate, so that the Plaintiff has at least a chance of full compensation.

E. The Abolishment of Punitive Damages Against an Estate will Produce Confusion and Inequity.

If punitive damages can no longer be assessed against a tortfeasor's estate, what happens when:

1) Suit is brought for punitive damages against a live defendant and the defendant dies before trial?

2) Suit is brought for punitive damages against a live defendant and the defendant dies after trial but before judgment?

3) Judgment is entered against a live defendant for punitive damages, but before the time expires for a motion for new trial or rehearing, the defendant dies?

4) Judgment is entered against a live defendant for punitive damages, but before the judgment is paid the defendant dies?

5) Judgment is entered against a live defendant, appeal is taken, supersedeas bond is filed, and the defendant dies before the appeal is decided?

6) Judgment is entered against a live defendant, appeal is taken, no supersedeas bond is filed, and the defendant dies before the appeal is decided?

The questions will continue, confusion and inequity will prevail if this Honorable Court abolishes the assessment of punitive damages against a tortfeasor's estate.

II. THE FLORIDA SURVIVAL STATUTE MANDATES  
THE SURVIVAL OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES  
AGAINST A TORTFEASOR'S ESTATE.

A. This Court Has Held that the Survival Statute Requires the Allowance of Punitive Damages When the Injured Party Dies.

This Court in Atlas Properties, Inc. v. Didich, 226 So. 2d 684, 688-689 (Fla. 1969) clearly held that the Florida Survival Statute requires the allowance of an action for punitive damages when the injured party dies. Contrary to the assertion of Petitioner, this decision was not based on public policy reasons. Rather, after discussing the policy aspect, this Court continues as follows:

"... but there is a far better and simpler reason for allowing recovery. The clear language of §45.11 [now §46.021 (1967)], 'No... action shall die with the person...', indicates that any interpretation other than allowing recovery for punitive damages after the death of the injured party would be extremely difficult to justify. The statute speaks plainly on its face and really needs no interpretation. If a victim could have brought the action before his death, then his personal representative should be allowed to do so after his death. Thus, punitive damages should survive." [emphasis supplied]

B. A Claim for Punitive Damages is a "Cause of Action" Within the Survival Statute.

Black's Law Dictionary defines the term "cause of action" as follows:

"The fact or facts which give a person a right to judicial relief. The legal effect of an occurrence in terms of redress to a party to the occurrence. A situation or state of facts which would entitle party to maintain action and give him right to seek a judicial remedy in his behalf... Matter for which action may be maintained... The right which a party has to institute a judicial proceeding."  
[p. 201 (5th Ed. 1979)]

If a person in the State of Florida suffers at least nominal damage by the commission of a tort in a willful, malicious manner or in reckless disregard of the rights of others, he is entitled to seek the assessment of punitive damages. If this is not a "cause of action," what is it? If punitive damages do not survive the death of either the injured party or the tortfeasor, then what does the Florida Survival Statute mean? And, if punitive damages survive the death of an injured party, but do not survive the death of a tortfeasor, what happens if the commission of the tort causes the death of both?

III. THIS ISSUE SHOULD BE DECIDED IN LIGHT OF FLORIDA JURISPRUDENCE AND SHOULD NOT BE MANDATED BY THE POSITIONS OF OTHER STATES.

A. The Position of Other States Does Not Conform with Florida Jurisprudence.

Petitioner attempts to lead this Court to believe that an overwhelming majority of other states have considered the issue at bar in the same context as the issue must be considered in Florida, and have held that punitive damages do not survive the death of the tortfeasor. Petitioner's contention is incorrect.

Some states refuse to allow punitive damages at all. [Petitioner's Brief, pp. 7-8; App. 3, fn. 1] This is not the situation in Florida. Some states have statutes which expressly prohibit an award of punitive damages against a tortfeasor's estate. [Petitioner's Brief, p. 8, App. 3, fn. 2] This is not the situation in Florida.

Case law from some courts contains one sentence conclusions that assessing punitive damages against an estate for the purpose of deterring others is unrealistic or unpersuasive. [Thompson v. Estate of Petroff, 319 N.W. 2d 400, 408 (Minn. 1982); In the Matter of GAC Corp., 681 F. 2d 1295, 1301 (11th Cir. 1982)] The conclusion of these courts suffer from the same faulty analysis discussed supra at pp. 8-10.

The issue sub judice must be considered in view of the Florida Survival Statute and the public policy pronouncements of the Florida Supreme Court regarding punitive damages. In reality, there are only two states which have considered the issue sub judice in a context similar to Florida jurisprudence. Those states are West Virginia and Texas. [Perry v. Melton, 299 S.E. 2d 8 (W. Va. 1982) and Hofer v. Lavender, 679 S.W. 2d 470 (Tex. 1984)]

Both decisions contain an extensive discussion regarding the positions of other states and an explanation that the positions of other states are not based on survival statute interpretations, or are based upon a limited view of the public policy justifications for a punitive damage award. In addition, both states held that a claim for punitive damages survives the death of a tortfeasor.

As the Supreme Court of Texas stated in Hofer, supra,

"... whatever may be the majority rule in other jurisdictions or be the expression of commentators does not necessarily mean it will be the law in Texas."  
[679 S.W. 2d at p. 473]

The same is true in Florida!

B. Florida's Jurisprudence Mandates the Survival of Punitive Damages in All Situations.

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